SOUTH BAYLO UNIVERSITY

Systematic Review and Meta-analysis on the Effectiveness of Acupuncture for Cancer Patients Alleviating Pain, Fatigue, Insomnia, and Anorexia

by

Won Zoe Shin

A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

Doctor of Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine

LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA

June 2021

DISSERTATION OF WON ZOE SHIN APPROVED BY RESEARCH COMMITTEE

Varblacko

Ki Haeng Cho, Ph.D, L.Ac, Professor / Doctoral Research Coordinator

ſ

Suhkyung D. Kim, MD, OMD, L.Ac., Professor



Shan Qin Cui, OMD, L.Ac, Professor

Soo Kim, OMD, L.Ac., Doctoral Program Director

Joseph H. Suh, Ph.D, OMD, L.Ac., Doctoral Research Coordinator

South Baylo University Los Angeles, California

June 29, 2021

Copyright

by

Won Zoe Shin

2021

Systematic Review and Meta-analysis on the Effectiveness of Acupuncture for Cancer Patients Alleviating Pain, Fatigue, Insomnia, and Anorexia

Won Zoe Shin

SOUTH BAYLO UNIVERSITY Research Advisor: Alfredo Briones, MD, L.Ac.

ABSTRACT

Pain, fatigue, insomnia, and anorexia are the major symptoms experienced by cancer patients during and after cancer treatment. This research aimed to assess the evidence of acupuncture treatment for cancer patients alleviating these symptoms. After searching randomized controlled trials (RCTs) on acupuncture treatment for the symptoms and with all necessary measures reported for this continuous meta-analysis, 29 RCT studies with 2177 patients in English and Chinese were collected from several databases such as Google Scholar, EBSCO, and Wanfang. There was a strong support for heterogeneity among the 29 RCTs with statistical evidence [$\chi^2_{28} = 156.41$ (p < 0.001), $I^2 = 82\%$], and qualitative heterogeneity among them was also obvious, so random effects model was plausible in this meta-analysis. Pooled estimates for summary effect resulted in 1.04 points improvement [95% CI (-1.30; -0.80)] by standardized mean difference (SMD) score for the acupuncture intervention group compared against the control group in the random effects model. Qualitative heterogeneity in RCTs, such as different trial setting for control group and different intervention methods, was a hindering factor for getting decisive statistical evidence for the efficacy of acupuncture from the meta-analysis. However, all the subgroup

analyses and most of the RCTs in this field strongly supported the positive effect of acupuncture for cancer-related symptoms as well as this summary effect of meta-analysis did.

There were several factors that impede the definitive clinical evidence on the efficacy of acupuncture treatment for cancer symptoms through RCT. Diverse results depending on the mode of clinical setting for the control group, and unclear mechanism of effectuation from the acupuncture application, and the risks of bias during the RCT process and its output report were the intrinsic factors that weakened the statistical evidence for supporting the efficacy of the acupuncture treatment. Moreover, the Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM)'s impossibility to make a one-size-fits-all diagnosis on a symptom of "pain" for all the patients also made it difficult to have an ideal set of acupoints under a clinical study, and this weakened the evidence. These were the critical issues that all the researchers and/or practitioners should have in mind during their planning a clinical trial setting and/or practicing an oncology acupuncture.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	1
OBJECTIVES	3
LITERATURE REVIEW	4
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	7
III. RESULTS	15
IV. DISCUSSION	22
V. CONCLUSION	45
REFERENCES	46
APPENDICES	56

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Pain subgroup: characteristics of RCTs	24
Table 2. Fatigue subgroup: characteristics of RCTs	27
Table 3. Insomnia subgroup: characteristics of RCTs	29
Table 4. Anorexia subgroup: characteristics of RCTs	31

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. RCT Data selection flow diagram	8
Figure 2. Forest plot with summary effect of meta-analysis	16
Figure 3. Funnel plot of the included RCTs	19
Figure 4. Funnel plot with trim and fill	20
Figure 5. <i>p</i> -curve of the included RCTs	21
Figure 6. Forest plot of pain subgroup	23
Figure 7. Forest plot of fatigue subgroup	26
Figure 8. Forest plot of insomnia subgroup	28
Figure 9. Forest plot of anorexia subgroup	30
Figure 10. Penetrating vs nonpenetrating sham acupuncture	35
Figure 11. Penetrating vs nonpenetrating sham acupuncture except Deng et al.	36
Figure 12. Forest plot of RCTs with waitlist control trial	37
Figure 13. Bias plot for nonpenetrating sham control studies	40
Figure 14. Summary bias for nonpenetrating sham control studies	41

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am deeply indebted to all the people who have helped me doing the study on Acupuncture & Oriental Medicine, and finishing this research. The support of my families, faculties of the South Baylo University, and especially my research advisor Dr. Alfredo Briones has been a great help for making the work enjoyable.

Thank you, all!

I would also like to quote a famous Chinese adage as old as The Yellow Emperor's Internal Classic (黃帝內經) itself, from Confucius Analects (論語), Wei Zheng 15 (為政 15): The Master said, "Learning without thought is labor lost; thought without learning is perilous." (子曰 學而不思 則罔 思而不學 則殆)

I. INTRODUCTION

Acupuncture, a therapy originating from the Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM), has been in use as a mode of treating diseases for at least 3000 years. In the United States, it is reported that about 3.5 million adults or 1.5% of the population receive acupuncture in the year of 2012 at the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS).¹ It had been increasing steadily from 1.1% of population at 2002 NHIS to 1.4% at 2007 NHIS those who received acupuncture treatment.²

Cancer is an agonizing disease that cause huge difficulty not only to the patient himself/herself but also to his/her families and friends. Cancer patients experience from cancer and/or treatment-related side effects such as nausea and vomiting, post-operative pain, cancer related pain, chemotherapy-induced leukopenia, post chemotherapy fatigue, xerostomia, and possibly insomnia, anxiety and lower quality of life.^{3,4} Multidimensional factors contribute to these various symptoms in cancer patients, including tumor invasion or metastasis, anemia, polypharmacy, treatment side effects, hypogonadism in male patients, autonomic dysfunction, and release of inflammatory cytokines.⁵

The use of acupuncture for these patients has been recommended by the American Cancer Society (ACS) for the treatment of side effects associated with conventional cancer therapy and cancer-related ailments.⁶ Therefore, acupuncture is increasingly offered as a treatment option for managing cancer-related symptoms, and it is becoming a part of evidence-based oncology. A study reported that the published studies on acupuncture therapy about the cancer had also been increasing over the past 2 decades, from 18 articles in 2000 to 182 articles in 2019.⁷ Approximately one in 10 cancer survivors in the United

States have used acupuncture, with the rate of use noted to be higher among those with cancer as compared with those without.⁸ In Australia, it is estimated that around 17% to 87% of the cancer patients have used one form of complementary therapy during their cancer treatment.⁹

On the other hand, practitioners in the related health care fields want more evidence to insure the efficacy of acupuncture treatment for cancer patients. Even though there exists a host of published RCTs and meta-analyses on this topic, the efficacy of acupuncture for the cancer patients is neither fully accepted to other health care workers nor to general public yet. Therefore, scrutinizing the clinical settings and processes of RCT on the field of acupuncture is required to find out the probable causes of hindrance to get a full acceptance. In this study, firstly, meta-analyses on the effectiveness of acupuncture for alleviating symptoms on cancer patients was conducted. After the report on the result of meta-analysis, the difficulties for setting proper RCT environment under the characteristics of acupuncture were to be reviewed. Then, combining these two would bring in the conclusion.

OBJECTIVES

- Based on of the RCTs on the acupuncture treatment, overviewing current oncology acupuncture for cancer patients, and validity of statistical evidence in the clinical trials.
- 2. Conducting a meta-analysis for the effectiveness of acupuncture treatment for cancer-related symptoms to report the summary effect, and other separate subgroup meta-analyses.
- 3. Reviewing the methodological issues in an RCT model setting for acupuncture trial such as choice of sham acupuncture mode, acupoints selection process, and different intervention methods.

LITERATURE REVIEW

To be integrated into the conventional medical practice, acupuncture needs evidencebased knowledge accumulation through rigorous clinical research. Many studies have suggested that acupuncture is a recommended mode of treatment for cancer patients as a palliative care.¹¹ The research publications on the acupuncture therapy for cancer have steadily increased over the last 20 years.⁷ Many clinical researches on the acupuncture have supported cancer patients for improving their symptoms.¹² Therefore, it is expected that the proliferation of future clinical studies on acupuncture for cancer-related symptoms will provide more and more evidence for its effectiveness.

Pain was reported in 25% for those patients newly diagnosed with cancer, 33% for those undergoing active treatment, and greater than 75% for those with advanced disease.¹³ In He et al.(2019)'s study, acupuncture and/or acu-pressure were significantly associated with reduced cancer pain and decreased use of analgesics, although the evidence level was moderate.¹⁴ The efficacy and safety of acupuncture for chronic cancer-related pain may depend on the different applying methods, and network meta-analysis is also in developing process to see the difference.¹⁵ In another study, acupuncture alone was not found to be better than pharmacotherapy for cancer-related pain, but acupuncture plus drug therapy resulted in increased pain remission rate, shorter onset time of pain relief, longer pain-free duration, and better quality of life without serious adverse effects.¹⁶

Fatigue is the most prevalent symptoms of cancer patients. As much as 90% of patients treated with radiation therapy, and 80% of those who undergo chemotherapy were experiencing cancer related fatigue.¹⁷ Most of the RCTs have used Brief Fatigue Index

(BFI) for measuring improvement. Jang et al. (2020) reported that the true acupuncture group's BFI scores were 0.93 points better than sham acupuncture [95% CI (-1.65; -0.20)], and true acupuncture had improved BFI score by 2.12 points than usual care groups [95% CI (-3.21; -1.04)] in their meta-analysis.¹⁸

Concerning insomnia, cancer survivors showed that 52% reported sleeping difficulties and 58% reported cancer-aggravated sleeping problem.¹⁹ There are some studies comparing acupuncture treatment with other conventional therapy. Choi et al. (2017)'s study supported some evidence that RCTs on acupuncture treatment for insomnia resulted in similar effects on response rate to those of conventional drug treatment in their metaanalysis.¹⁹ Feng et al. (2011) also reported acupuncture was better than hormone therapy in the number of hours slept each night and number of times woken up each night.⁵⁴ Romero et al. (2020) reported that acupuncture treatment also alleviated co-morbid conditions contributing to insomnia such as anxiety, and it has durable therapeutic effects.²⁰ However, Garland et al. (2019) reported their RCT result that cognitive behavior therapy was more effective than acupuncture for cancer-related insomnia.²¹

Anorexia is defined as loss of appetite with or without weight loss, which occurs in half of newly diagnosed cancer patients and $26.8\% \sim 57.9\%$ of patients with advanced cancer.²² Weight loss can be a side effect of cancer treatments, such as chemotherapy. However, weight loss is also associated with cancer-caused anorexia, because cancers can secrete substances that change the body's metabolism. Yoon et al. (2015) reported that patients' appetite showed improvement after acupuncture treatment, with an average score of 3.04 on the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) and 4.14 on Simplified Nutritional Appetite Questionnaire (SNAQ) compared to the preintervention scores.²³ Improving appetite of cancer patients is a basic need for maintaining the quality of life.

Many of these studies for the effectiveness of acupuncture are based on the randomized controlled trials. A researcher using RCT for acupuncture needs to be aware that setting a control group environment of the clinical trial may produce different result, depending on the choice of managing control group such as waitlist or sham acupuncture.²⁴ There are other problems in clinical acupuncture research such as the diverse forms of intervention, needing individualized treatments, blinding process, choosing a credible control model, selecting diagnosis in TCM.

Kaptchuk et al. (2010) surveyed on how the acupuncture practitioners in Europe and America thought about the RCT reports on chronic low back pain, and the result can be summarized:²⁵

1) methodological weaknesses; 2) inappropriateness of placebo controls; 3) questions as to whether acupuncture placebo controls are "inert;" 4) rejection of evidence-based medicine epistemology; 5) discrepancy between acupuncture performed in RCTs with real world acupuncture; 6) enhanced placebo effects of acupuncture; and 7) needs to re-evaluate acupuncture theory. (from the abstract)

This study revealed what the acupuncturists in Europe and America were thinking about RCT, and they thought RCT was not an adequate clinical setting. Moreover, as Ho et al. (2020) described, there were also several non-specific effects of acupuncture that originate from patient characteristics, acupuncturist skill, the patient-practitioner relationship, and the clinical environment which cannot be incorporate into a RCT model.²⁶ These factors make it more difficult to build a suitable RCT model for acupuncture treatment study.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

This study aimed to systematically appraise the evidence for the use of acupuncture for symptom management in cancer and supportive care for cancer patients. For the metaanalysis, RCT studies were searched in databases on the acupuncture treatment to alleviate symptoms such as (a) pain, (b) anorexia, (c) insomnia, and (d) fatigue. Electronic databases of Google scholar, EBSCO, and Wanfang were utilized. The accessing period was between January and February in 2021. The searched terms were "acupuncture," "cancer," "pain," "fatigue," "insomnia," "anorexia," and their related terms such as "tiredness," "sleeping disorder" or "eating disorder." There were 3712 studies for acupuncture treatment for cancer patients as shown in Figure 1. After screening the 3712 studies through titles and abstracts, 181 studies were selected for full-text article review. Eventually 35 studies for qualitative synthesis, and 29 RCT studies were chosen for the meta-analysis.

Inclusion criteria

Including the studies for meta-analysis were decided by the following criteria:

- (1) RCTs comparing acupuncture and/or related therapies with a valid comparison that allows evaluation of intervention effect.
- (2) Patients who are diagnosed with any type of cancer.
- (3) Any form of acupuncture or related techniques are considered for intervention group, including needle-based acupuncture, electroacupuncture, auricular acupuncture and intradermal acupuncture.



Figure 1. RCT Data-selection flow diagram

(4) Control groups may have used some type of treatment that may also or may not apply to intervention group. These include sham acupuncture, waitlist, conventional drug treatment, behavioral therapies, and so on.

Exclusion criteria

Even if all inclusion criteria required above had been satisfied, studies without report on clear data for continuous meta-analysis were excluded. The requirements were clearly reported data on both base and resulting measurement index scores with average and standard deviations. Report on the number of patients for both intervention and control groups were also required.

2.2 Methods

In most studies on the effect of acupuncture treatment, the effect is reported as a mean difference between two groups. These two groups are intervention (or experimental) group and control group. More generally expressed, the mean difference or "difference in means" is a statistical data that measures the numerical difference between the mean values in two groups from a clinical trial. This estimates the amount of difference that the intervention has resulted in some effect on the intervention group compared with the control group. The mean difference, *D*, can be expressed

$$D = \overline{X}_1 - \overline{X}_2$$

Where \overline{X}_1 and \overline{X}_2 be the sample means of the two independent groups, intervention group and control group. The *D* is a raw value of effect difference between these two groups, and often called "raw mean difference" that is not standardized yet.

9

Estimation of the effect size for meta-analysis

For meta-analysis, standardized mean difference will be calculated from the data published in each study. Sample size, mean difference and sample standard deviations of the two groups in each study should be provided in each published RCT. Let S_1 and S_2 are the sample standard deviations with sample sizes n_1 and n_2 in each study. Assuming the same standard deviation of the population, standardized mean difference (SMD) is calculated within group standard deviation, S_{within} . Let estimated SMD be d, then²⁷

$$d = \frac{\overline{X_1} - \overline{X_2}}{S_{within}}$$

where

$$S_{within} = \sqrt{\frac{(n_1 - 1)S_1^2 + (n_2 - 1)S_2^2}{n_1 + n_2 - 2}}$$

This SMD in a study is essential information needed for the meta-analysis, and it is obtained from the reported data in an included study. Using this SMD, one can assess the treatment effect across studies consistently, even if the measuring indexes are different each other in their clinical trials. The variance of d is given by

$$V_d = \frac{n_1 + n_2}{n_1 n_2} + \frac{d^2}{2(n_1 + n_2)}$$

This variance of the estimated standard mean difference (*d*) is an approximation used in most meta-analysis.²⁷ Then, the standard error of *d* (*SE_d*) is a parameter determined by taking square root of the variance V_d , as obtained above.

$$SE_d = \sqrt{V_d}$$

To correct the bias come from small sample size, researchers often adopt Hedge's g as an unbiased estimator for the d, and variance of it in a study with small sample size.

Weighting method for the mean and its confidence interval

There are two models for calculating the summary effect statistics, the fixed effect model or the random effects model. The fixed effect model assumes that every study has acquired its sample from the same population and has applied homogenous treatment method. So, the true effect sizes for all studies are the same. Then, the weight depends only on the variance of each study. In the random effects model, however, the true effects are different, and add the τ^2 (which is the variance among SMDs) to the individual study variance (V_{γ_i} , same as V_d for study *i*) for estimating weighted summary effect.

The assigned wight for fixed effect model for each study is

$$W_i = \frac{1}{V_{Y_i}}$$

where V_{Y_i} is the variance of the SMD for study *i*.

Weighted mean, M, is

$$M = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{k} W_i Y_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{k} W_i}$$

where Y_i is the effect size of study *i*, and W_iY_i is the product of effect size multiplied by weight of that study.

The variance of summary effect, V_M , is the inverse of the sum of weight, that is

$$V_M = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^k W_i}$$

The standard error of weighted mean in the summary effect, SE_M , is

$$SE_M = \sqrt{V_M}$$

Using these parameters, 95% confidence interval of the weighted mean of the summary effect will be estimated by

$$M$$
 + 1.96 x SE_M

for upper limit, and

$$M - 1.96 \ge SE_M$$

for lower limit.

These are the basic ideas explaining how the meta-analysis in fixed effect model manages available data from the collected RCTs.

Why meta-analysis and which model?

Meta-analysis is a quantitative and formal process of data manipulation to assess a body of research to get a more consolidated outcome. For getting the consolidated outcome, each of these included studies should provide a point estimate of effect size that the study had pursued, and it should also provide the measure of precision of the estimate often expressed in standard deviation. Then, the outcomes from a meta-analysis can present more precise statistical score than an individual study, because they have pooled the data from several related studies of interest. However, variability of clinical setting and/or heterogeneity of intervention methods among the included studies are the critical problems that researchers have to understand.

The fixed effect model and the random effects model are two major statistical models for meta-analysis, depending on the assumption about the data.²⁸ Under the fixed effect

model, it is assumed that there is one true effect size that underlies all the studies included in the meta-analysis. In other words, all the studies are assumed to be qualitatively homogenous in fixed effect model. Under the random effects model, however, the true effect sizes are different from one study to the other due to its heterogeneity in clinical setting. The existence of heterogeneity among included studies is the benchmark for choosing the suitable model for a meta-analysis. Choosing one of these two models, a researcher should consider both quantitative and qualitative heterogeneity.

Funnel plot and p-curve to detect publication bias

Publication bias is a crucial concern for the researchers doing meta-analysis, since it will distort the result of summary effect. The output of a meta-analyses is based on the available data from the publication (or sometimes with added unpublished data) of interested studies, so the resulting evidence depends completely on the goodness (or truthfulness) of the included studies. There is widespread evidence that a study is more likely to be published if its findings are statistically significant, or conform to the desired hypothesis. If a clinical trial were not published, the study should stay in researcher's file drawer. So, the publication bias is sometimes called the "file drawer" problem. One can check the publication bias through a funnel plot. A funnel plot is a scatter plot of the studies' observed effect sizes on the x-axis against a measure of their standard error on the y-axis. If the scatter plot shows roughly symmetrical in an inverted funnel shape, it is likely to have less publication bias problem.²⁹

If the funnel plot is asymmetrical, we can calculate a bias-corrected estimate of the true effect size. It is called a "trim and fill funnel plot." The trim-and-fill method is done by

three stages. Firstly, one removes (trims) studies from the original funnel plot until it becomes symmetric. Secondly, one adds (fills) mirror images of missing studies (i.e., presumably unpublished studies) to the original funnel plot. Thirdly, one calculates the adjusted effect estimate based on original and added studies.³⁰ The trim and fill funnel plot helps seeing the presumed missing studies, and correcting the summary effect.

Another method for checking publication bias is a *p*-curve plot. Simonsohn et al. (2014) have contrived *p*-curve for a test of publication bias.³¹ This *p*-curve is a distribution of statistically significant *p* values for the set of studies. If *p* value of a study in the set is greater than 0.05, it will be excluded from the *p*-curve plot. The right skewed *p*-curves represents the study set contains evidential value that it is less likely to be biased due to "*p*-hacking." The *p*-hacking is a manipulation of the clinical output until the threshold of the statistical significance level (p < 0.05) has reached. There are several ways of doing *p*-hacking. They could adjust the hypothesis after clinical results were known to meet the significance level, or can tweak the number of observations to increase the precision through smaller standard error, and so on. Both of publication bias and *p*-hacking can cause the overestimation of the summary effect size calculated from the set of chosen clinical trials.

In this study, 29 RCT studies were gathered applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria stipulated above. After arranging the gathered RCT data in MS Excel form, R version 4.0.4 statistical software with the "meta" package was run for the result of metaanalysis.³² Subgroup analyses were done separately. R language's "dmetar" package for *p*-curve plot, and "robvis" package for risk of bias plot were also utilized.

III. RESULTS

Figure 2 presents the statistical results of the meta-analysis. 29 RCTs (with 2177 patients) were included in the study to get the summary effect for the acupuncture treatment group against control group. Detailed description about these 29 RCT studies will be reported in the tables at subgroups section below. For the statistical heterogeneity test, calculated chi-squire test score from the 29 studies was 156.41 [χ^2_{28} = 156.41 (p < 0.001), $I^2 = 82\%$], and the probability of these RCTs were homogenous was less than 0.1 %. There were also obvious heterogenous clinical trial settings among 29 RCTs. Therefore, random effects model was adopted in this meta-analysis to report the summary effect.^{28,32} Compared with the control group, the result of acupuncture intervention group improved 1.05 in SMD score with 95% CI (-1.30; -0.80) in random effects model. As for the significance level of each study, 9 studies failed to be effective in their SMDs for acupuncture treatment within 95% confidence interval as shown in Figure 2. Input data for each study are the number of patients, mean difference with standard deviation for both invention and control group, and they are reported in APPENDIX - A.

The SMD was used for representing the effect size in each RCT study, and effect size was the outcome difference between the acupuncture intervention group and the control group. The use of SMD as a measure of effect size was inevitable, because many studies used different indexes for the measurement of treatment effects. Another parameter on these SMDs (the inverse score of each SMD's variance) were used to get the weighted average into a summary effect in a process of meta-analysis. By increasing the number of observations in the study of interest, the precision of estimated effect size shall increase by



Figure 2. Forest plot with summary effect of meta-analysis

decreasing standard deviation (SD) of the summary effect. Therefore, the summary effect from the meta-analysis usually reveals stronger statistical precision (as a smaller SD) than an individual RCT. This higher precision help increase the evidence for the effectiveness of acupuncture treatment for cancer patients by decreasing confidence interval for 95% CI, and eventually increasing significant level (with lower p value). However, the huge variety in clinical settings among these 29 RCTs was an impeding factor not to reach a definitive conclusion for the efficacy of acupuncture treatment.

Heterogeneity of the RCTs

It is a well-accepted fact that the efficacy of acupuncture treatment is affected by the selection of acupoints, needling depth, manipulation techniques, treatment frequency and total number of treatment sessions. The 29 RCTs included in this study contained a lot of qualitative heterogeneity. They covered 10 for pain, 8 for fatigue, 6 for insomnia, and 5 for anorexia. These were the four subgroups designed to have separate analyses: pain, anorexia, insomnia and fatigue. Countries included in these RCTs were 16 China, 6 USA, 2 S. Korea, 1 UK, 1 Sweden, 1 Australia, 1 Taiwan, and 1 Brazil. So, the population from which each study had chosen its sample were diverse.

There were significant differences among modes of acupuncture intervention in these RCTs. The acupuncture style, index used, number of sessions and duration of intervention were varied among the RCTs included in this study. Most of the trials used manual acupuncture based on TCM theory, but some studies adopted Ashi points too. Out of 29 RCTs, thirteen studies intervened with acupuncture (many studies with other methods). Four studies adopted Chinese herbal medicines with acupuncture.^{35,47,48,58} Four studies used electro-acupuncture,^{43,54,60,61} three studies used ear acupuncture,^{41,62,69} and three studies used ear acupuncture and acupuncture together.^{40,50,59} Two studies used intradermal acupuncture.^{42,68} Ernst & Lee (2008) pointed out that a trial design should generate only

positive results if the design features were set to compare A + B (acupuncture + e.g., usual care) against B (e.g., usual care).³³ 8 out of 29 studies were designed in this clinical setting.^{37,39,40,41,49,51,59,69}

For acupoint selection, most of the trials used a predetermined set of acupoints based on the theory of TCM. Some studies combined a set of Back-shu points corresponding to the anatomical Zang-Fu organs with other distal points for the symptoms. Three studies used Ashi points in addition to traditional acupoints.^{42,57,67} Three study adopted the acupoints to be at the patients most painful joint areas of each patient, even though the detailed acupoints of choice were a little different each other.^{36,40,54} In five studies, acupuncture therapies were compared with conventional drug therapy alone.^{35,58,59,61,66} One study used trigger points around the joint with the most pain for electro-acupuncture.⁵⁴ Proper needling depth was depending on the point where a needle was applied, and manipulation techniques were also depending on the expertise of the participating acupuncturist. The number of sessions administered was ranged from 5 to 40 with different frequencies throughout the RCT studies, and this would make the heterogeneity among the studies worse in the meta-analysis.

These were the discrepancies among the included RCTs, and they demonstrated the existence of severe qualitative heterogeneity. Eventually, the existence of this qualitative heterogeneity was a strong support for the random effects model in this meta-analysis.

Funnel plot

Publication bias in the meta-analysis arises mainly from the possible missing reports due to their insignificant research outcomes. A funnel plot is designed to check out the



Figure 3. Funnel plot of the included RCTs

existence of the publication bias in the study set. Visual asymmetricity indicates the existence of publication bias in a scattered plot known as funnel plot.²⁹ Therefore, the asymmetric shape of the funnel plot in Figure 3 that came from the 29 RCT studies might indicate the existence of publication bias. Publication bias, however, is one of several possible reasons for asymmetrical funnel plot. The quantitative heterogeneity among studies, as shown in this one [$\chi^2_{28} = 156.41$ (p < 0.001)], can cause the asymmetry in the funnel plot. There was also another kind of heterogeneity that caused the asymmetry, and this qualitative heterogeneity came from the different study settings among RCTs, different types of participants, and/or different intervening methods. This qualitative heterogeneity could be a major cause of the asymmetricity. If there was publication bias in the selected set of studies, it might have distorted the estimation of summary effect size.



Figure 4. Funnel plot with trim and fill

Funnel plot with trim and fill

If one assumes that the asymmetry of funnel plot is a sign of publication bias due to missing studies because of their insignificant level in the statistical score. Then, one can also deduce these missing studies based on the current information by "trimming" and "filling." Trimming the studies that caused the asymmetry, one can find probable missing studies as the opposite positions of the studies causing asymmetricity. By adding these presumptive missing studies, one can get a new result and funnel plot. It is called a "trim and fill funnel plot." The funnel plot drawn in Figure 4 included these presumptive missing studies, and the hollow dots located at the right lower quadrant are the assumed missing studies.³⁰ This result implied that the statistically poor outcomes could not published, and stayed in the researcher's "file drawer." This "file drawer" problem will eventually lead to an over-valuation of the estimated summary effect size.



Figure 5. *p*-curve of the included RCTs

p-curve plot

Figure 5 is the *p*-curve plotted from the 29 RCT studies included in the meta-analysis. The plot is designed to check the existence of "*p*-hacking." The right skewed *p*-curve indicates containing more studies with low *p* values (p < 0.01) than high *p* values (0.04). Thus, it is less likely to exist "*p*-hacking" that describes the conscious or subconscious manipulation of data to get a desirable*p*-value.³¹ In the Figure 5, studies where*p*values are greater than 0.05 were excluded in this*p*-curve diagram. 9 out of 29 studies were excluded in this study, and these excluded 9 studies had touched zero horizontal line by their 95% confidence interval in the forest plot of Figure 2. The*p*-curve shown in Figure 5 was strongly right-skewed, so it can be accepted that the publication bias in terms of "*p*-hacking" was not a serious problem in this meta-analysis.

IV. DISCUSSION

Acupuncturists in the oncology setting may encounter patients with a wide range of comorbidities resulting from either cancer treatment and/or from the disease itself. Using information identified from the published articles and supplementary materials, researchers should prove the validity of acupuncture therapy for alleviating cancer-related symptoms in meta-analysis. However, the qualitative differences in the clinical interventions among studies are serious barriers to get the objective validation for efficacy using meta-analysis from RCTs in the field. The well-known causes of qualitative difference are different study setting, different types of participants, and/or different intervention methods among RCTs. Subgroup analysis can help understanding the diversity of summary effect among the included clinical studies in different categories. Following are the meta-analyses of subgroups and sub-categories to get the more detailed characteristics of 29 RCTs.

Pain-subgroup meta-analysis

The subgroup of treatment for cancer-related pain includes 10 RCTs with 656 patients. Intervention methods are acupuncture (n=7),^{34,35,36,37,38,39,40} auricular acupuncture (n=1),⁴¹ intradermal acupuncture (n=1),⁴² and electro-acupuncture (n=1).⁴³ Summary statistics for this subgroup meta-analysis is 0.92 improvement in SMD with 95% confidence interval (-1.36; -0.48) in the random effects model. Implementing style for acupuncture in the RCTs have heterogenous settings such as applying with Chinese herbal medicine (Xu, 2019),³⁵ nerve block surgery (Li & Cao, 2014).³⁹ The quantitative heterogeneity statistics is also strongly supported by this subgroup meta-analysis [$\chi_9^2 = 47.76$ (p < 0.001), $I^2 = 81\%$] as



Figure 6. Forest plot of pain subgroup

seen in Figure 6. The size of square in the forest plot in Figure 6 represents the relative weight of each study for total summary effect calculation.

The cancer-related pain is one of the most common excruciating symptoms caused by the cancer itself and/or by its treatment such as surgery, chemotherapy and radiotherapy. World Health Organization (WHO) suggested administering a sequential 3-step analgesic ladder from nonopioids to weak opioids, eventually to strong opioids according to pain intensity. Two of studies applied WHO three-ladder standard scheme for both intervention and control groups (Fan et al., 2017 and Guo et al., 2015).^{37,38} They did not apply sham acupuncture for control group, so the outcome did not include placebo effect but the effectiveness of acupuncture only.

In 3 arms trial setting, the acupuncture against waitlist control group was found to be more effective than that of sham control group in several previous studies.^{36,52,54} Sham acupuncture control trial showed less effectiveness of treatment comparing with waitlist

Study	Experiment Group	Control Group	Acupuncture Points	Sessions; Index	Cancer; Country	
Lu et al., ³⁴	Acupuncture; + electro- acupuncture	Waitlist control;	TE 5, Baxie(八邪) and/or SP 6 and LR 3 bilaterally	8 weeks (2X/week); BPI-SF*	Breast cancer; USA	
Xu et al., ³⁵ 2019	Acupuncture + Longxing Zhitong(龙星止痛膏) ointment external application	Only oxycodone hydrochloride tablets	PC 6, LI 4, LU 6, LU 7, LU 1, ST 36	2 weeks (1X/day); VAS**	Various; China	
Hersh- man et al., ³⁶ 2018	Acupuncture; Gleenlee(2015) with STRICTA [†] method	Three arms setting: Sham acupuncture (no acu pts + shallow needle insertion) or waitlist	Acu pts at 3 of the patient's most painful joint areas	6 weeks (2X/week); BPI-SF	Breast cancer; USA	
Ruela et al., ⁴¹ 2018	Auricular Acupuncture (AA); (0.20 mm x 1.5 mm)	AA but sham points (Eye point and Trachea)	(AA): Shenmen, Kidney, Sympathetic etc.	8 weeks (1X/week); NPS***	Various; Brazil	
Kim & Lee, ⁴² 2018	Intradermal acupuncture (needle was kept attached on the skin for 48 to 72 hours)	Sham intradermal acupuncture (no- penetration)	CV 12, bilateral ST 25, LI 4, LR 3, PC 6, and Ashi points	3 weeks (3X/week); NRS ^{††}	Various; S. Korea	
Fan et al., ³⁷ 2017	Acupuncture + WHO three-ladder standard therapeutic scheme	WHO three-ladder standard therapeutic scheme	PC 6, LI 4、ST 36、SP 9, SP 6	20 days (1X/day); NRS	Lung cancer; China	
Gleen- lee et al., ⁴³ 2016	Electro-acupuncture + taxane	Sham electro- acupuncture (lateral side of original pts) + taxane	GB 34, ST 36, LI 4, LI 10, Bafeng(八 风), Huatuojiaji (華陀夾脊)	6 weeks (2X/week); BPI-SF	Breast cancer; USA	
Guo et al., ³⁸ 2015	Acupuncture + WHO pain management ladder guidance	WHO pain management ladder guidance	Bilaterally ST 36, SP 6, LI 4, PC 6	8 weeks (5X/week); NRS	Stomach cancer; China	
Li & Cao, ³⁹ 2014	Acupuncture + thoracic-lumbar paravertebral block or Thoracic-lumbar sympathetic block	Thoracic-lumbar paravertebral block or Thoracic-lumbar sympathetic block	Chest Pain: LU 5, SP 9, BL 13, Abdomen pain: ST 36, SP9, BL 60	2 weeks (2X/day); VAS	Various; China	
Crew et al., ⁴⁰ 2010	Acupuncture; body and one point for auricular acupuncture	Sham acupuncture; superficial needle used	Varied; acu points near 3 most painful joint areas + ear	6 weeks (2X/week); BPI	Breast Cancer; USA	

Table 1. Pain subgroup: characteristics of RCTs

* BPI-SF: Brief Pain Inventory - Short Form, ** VAS: Visual Analogue Scale, *** NPS: Numeric Pain Scale, [†] STRITCA: Standards for Reporting of Controlled Trials in Acupuncture, ^{††} NRS: Numeric Rating Scale

control group. Hershman et al. (2018) applied acupuncture for aromatase inhibitors induced breast cancer patients pain management with three arms clinical setting: acupuncture, sham acupuncture, and waitlist group.³⁶ 30 ~ 45 minute sessions were administered over a period of six weeks. Chosen acupoints are joint-specific points of most painful joint areas. The sham needles were applied minimally at non-acupoints. There were two sets of mean difference in the study, "true acupuncture *vs* sham acupuncture" and "true acupuncture *vs* waitlist." The fitted differences of average pain in two settings are -0.60 [95% CI (-1.17; -0.03)] against sham acupuncture and -0.71[95% CI (-1.28; -0.15)] against waitlist. In their RCT, one can see the effect size of true acupuncture against waitlist group was larger than that against sham acupuncture control group.

The RCT research in cancer pain is limited with major methodological shortcomings such as risk of bias and erroneous model setting. To implement the shortcomings, STRICTA (Standard for Reporting Intervention in Clinical Trial of Acupuncture) has been recommended. The acupuncture rationale, the details of needling, the treatment regimen, other components of treatment, the practitioner background, and the control or comparator interventions are important parts of checklist in STRICTA, and Hershman et al. (2018) have tried to adopt this method in their study.

Fatigue-subgroup analysis

In cancer-related fatigue (CRF) subgroup, there were 8 RCTs with 680 patients. Intervention methods were acupuncture $(n=7)^{47,48,49,50,51,52,53}$ and electro-acupuncture (n=1).⁵⁴ The meta-analysis resulted in 1.0 improvement measured by SMD with [95% CI (-1.57; -0.42)] in the random effects model. Not only quantitative heterogeneity [χ_7^2 =



Figure 7. Forest plot of fatigue subgroup

48.67 (p < 0.001)] but also qualitative heterogeneity was supported as seen in Table 2. The difference between normal fatigue and CRF is disproportionate to exertion level and is not relieved by rest or sleep. A study reported that 40% of individuals with cancer experience CRF at diagnosis, as do 90% of those treated with radiation and 80% of those who undergo chemotherapy.¹⁷ RCT studies for acupuncture combined with Chinese herbal medicine was more effective than other studies with only acupuncture treatment or usual cancer care, and it improved quality of life (You 2020, Jhang 2018).^{47,48}

Deng et al. (2013)'s study showed zero efficacy on acupuncture treatment, even though they used TCM acupoints and used nonpenetrating sham needles for control group.⁵⁰ This study needs more scrutiny for its bias in the clinical trial and intervention method. They used sham needle without insertion, and the sham points were slightly away from the predefined ones (CV 6, CV 4, KD 3, SP 6, ST 36, LI 11, HT 6), and those were for the acupuncture group. Needle sensation (or Deqi), manual stimulation, 20 min retention were also applied. The changes of Brief Fatigue Inventory (BFI) were same for both intervention

Study	Experiment Group	Control Group	Acupuncture Points	Sessions; Index	Cancer; Country
You Yi, ⁴⁷ 2020	Acupuncture + Fuzheng Jiedu decoction(扶正解毒 方) + best supportive treatment	Best supportive treatment; pain management, nutritional support, aerobic exercise, psychological and sleet therapy	CV 4、CV 6、and bilaterally ST 25, and ST 36	6 weeks (5X/week); PFS*	Colorec- tal cancer; China
Zhang et al., ⁴⁸ 2018	Acupuncture + Xiaoyan decoction (消岩汤) + moxibustion	Normal support for chemo-therapy	CV 17, CV 12, CV 6, SP 10, PC 6, SP 6, ST 36	3 weeks (1X/day); CFS	Various; China
Su et al., ⁴⁹ 2016	Acupuncture + nutritional support and symptomatic management	Nutritional support and symptomatic management	CV 6, CV 4, ST 36, SP 10	2 weeks (1X/day); PFS	Various; China
Mao et al., ⁵⁴ 2014	Electro- acupuncture	Sham acupuncture; non-penetrating needles at least 5cm away from the pain area	Trigger pts: points around the joint with the most pain areas	8 weeks (2X/week); BFI**	Gyneco- logical tumor; China
Deng et al., ⁵⁰ 2013	Acupuncture + ear acu	Sham acupuncture; w/ sham needles & points off the meridians	CV 6, CV 4, KD 3, SP 6, ST 36, LI 11, HT 6 + ear acu (nervous subcortex)	6 weeks (1X/week); BFI	Various; USA
Molassi- otis et al., ⁵¹ 2012	Acupuncture	Enhanced usual care according to Macmillan/Cancer Backup	ST 36, SP 6, and LI 4, alternative points are GB 34 and SP 9	6 weeks (1X/week); MFI***	Breast Cancer; United Kingdom
Smith et al., ⁵² 2012	Acupuncture	Sham acupuncture; (non-invasive) on no acu pts	Bilateral KI 3, KI 27, ST 36, SP 6 and unilateral CV 4 and CV 6	3 weeks (2X/week); BFI	Breast cancer; Australia
Johnston et al., ⁵³ 2011	Acupuncture + self- massage, exercise, nutrition, and stress management + usual care	Usual care on National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) clinical practice guidelines	LI 4, SP 6, ST 36, KI 3 for all + (gastrointestinal) PC 6, SP 4 (emotional) LU 7, KI 4, LV 3, Yintang, GV 20 (sleep) HT 7, KI 4, and UB 62	8 weeks (1X/week); BFI	Post- breast cancer; USA

Table 2. Fatigue subgroup: characteristics of RCTs

* PFS: Piper Fatigue Scale, CFS: Cancer Fatigue Scale, ** BFI: Brief Fatigue Inventory, *** MFI: Multidimensional Fatigue Index

group and control group. Did this imply that the placebo effect of sham acupuncture was exactly as good as real acupuncture? When Moffet (2009) asserted that sham acupuncture might be as efficacious as true acupuncture, he meant the sham acupuncture with needle



Figure 8. Forest plot of insomnia subgroup

insertion but on non-points (locations that are not known acupoints) or on wrong points (points not indicated for the condition).⁴⁵ Therefore, the (no effect) result of Deng et al. (2013)'s study was not expected as long as they used sham acupuncture without needle insertion, so it was highly possible that there were other deviations from the clinical setting during their experimental intervention.

Insomnia-subgroup analysis

In insomnia subgroup, 6 RCTs were included, with a total of 488 patients. Intervention methods are acupuncture (n=3),^{57,58,59} electro-acupuncture (n=2),^{60,61} and auricular acupuncture (n=1).⁶² For measurement, 5 RCT studies used Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) for sleep quality index, and one used simple "hours of sleep" as an index. Acupuncture treatment group improved by 1.29 measured in SMD with [95% CI (-1.89; - 0.69)]. Sleep problems (inadequate sleep duration, poor sleep quality, poor sleep timing, sleep disorders) are the easily encountering symptoms for cancer patients. It often coexists with pain, fatigue, depression, and anxiety in cancer patients. This co-existence makes a

Study	Experiment Group	Control Group	Acupuncture Points	Sessions; Index	Cancer; Country
Gao et al., ⁵⁷ 2020	Acupuncture + standardized three - ladder acesodyne regimen; External application of Chinese medicine	Standardized three - ladder acesodyne regimen; external application of Chinese medicine at pain points	Main points: PC 6, LI 4, SP 6, ST 36, Optional points: BL 13, LU 6, Ashi pts	2 weeks (1X/day); PSQI*	Lung cancer; China
Chi et al., ⁵⁸ 2019	Acupuncture combined with Tianwang Buxin Dan(天王补心丹)	Oral Estazolam Tablets;	KD 3, SP 6, BL62, KD 6, Optional points: Heart and Kidney meridian pts	2 weeks (1X/day); PSQI	Lung cancer; China
Kuo et al., ⁶² 2018	Auricular acupuncture; Vaccaria seed was kept at one ear lobe for 3 days.	Verbal and written advice on sleep hygiene practices	Shenmen (TF4), Xin (Heart; CO15), Pizhixia (Subcortex; AT4), and Neifenmi (Endocrine; CO18) points.	6 weeks (2X/week); PSQI	Ovarian cancer; Taiwan
Shen et al., ⁶⁰ 2016	Electro- acupuncture	Three ladder analgesic therapy + Zolpidem	KD 6, BL 62, HT 7, Yintang(印堂), Sishengcong(四神 聪)	4 weeks (1X/day); PSQI	Lung- cancer; China
Frisk et al., ⁶¹ 2012	Electro- acupuncture	Hormone therapy; estrogen/ progestogen therapy	Unspecified	12 weeks (?/week); hours of sleep	Breast cancer; Sweden
Feng et al., ⁵⁹ 2011	Acupuncture + ear acupuncture	Fluoxetine Hydrochloride Capsule (Prozac)	ST 40, SP 9, SP 10, SP 6, Yintang (EX- HN3), DU 20, Sishencong (EX- HN1), PC 6 Shenmen, TF 4.	30 days (1X/day); PSQI	Various; China

Table 3. Insomnia subgroup: characteristics of RCTs

* PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index

positive feedback loop where all symptoms are amplified and overall burden is increased.

Chi et al. (2019) used both acupuncture and Chinese herbal medicine (Tianwang Buxin Dan) for intervention group comparing against oral Estazolam tablets for control group.⁵⁸ This study produced strong evidence for the acupuncture and herbal medicine, but one could not discern the level of contribution in each therapy. However, Feng et al. (2011) had strong support for acupuncture against pharmacological treatment (Prozac) in control



Figure 9. Forest plot of anorexia subgroup

group, and resulted higher SMD improvement than Chi et al.'s study.⁵⁹ The etiology of insomnia is also an important factor for the effective therapy. If the insomnia was caused more by psychological factors, other therapy could be more effective. As an example, Garland et al. (2019) reported in their RCT result that the cognitive behavior therapy had been more effective than acupuncture for cancer-related insomnia.²¹ Patients' perception on the treatment's evidence, experience with the treatment, and patient-practitioner relationship are also significant factors for realizing effective results in a therapy.

Anorexia-subgroup analysis

In anorexia subgroup, 5 RCTs with 353 patients were included in the meta-analysis. Acupuncture $(n=4)^{65,66,67,68}$ and an auricular acupuncture $(n=1)^{69}$ are the types of intervention. For the consistency of effect size, the positive sign of effect size as SMDs in Figure 9 was changed to a negative sign in the total meta-analysis at Figure 2. For the measurement index score for anorexia, such as Simplified Nutritional Appetite Questionnaire (SNAQ), higher score represents better condition, but the pain index such as

Study	Experiment Group	Control Group	Acupuncture Points	Sessions; Index	Cancer; Country
Sun et al., ⁶⁹ 2020	Auricular acupuncture + usual nutritional supportive care; taped intradermal needles for 2 or 3 days	Only usual nutritional supportive care	Shenmen, stomach, spleen and subcortex, sympathetic, liver, small intestine and Sanjiao	4 weeks (3X/week); SNAQ*	Various; China
Li et al., ⁶⁵ 2020	Acupuncture; stimulated manually every 10 min; electro- acupuncture (ST36)	Same as true acupuncture, but stimulation points are not traditional Chinese meridians; no manipulation	RN 12, LR 13, bilaterally, RN 6, ST 25, bilaterally, PC 6, bilaterally, ST 36, bilaterally	5 days (1X/day); SNAQ	Various; China
Deng & Xu, ⁶⁶ 2018	Acupuncture;	Western medicine; Sertraline Hydrochloride tablet (Zoloft)	PC 6, LV 3, SP 9 + others	4weeks; QLQ- C30**	Various; China
Fang & Xu, ⁶⁷ 2017	Acupuncture + relaxation training	Relaxation training	Mainly Ashi points with various meridian points	3 weeks (5X/week); CPQOL [†]	Various; China
Jeon et al., ⁶⁸ 2015	Intradermal acupuncture	Sham intradermal acupuncture; (No-penetration)	LI 4, LR 3, ST 36, SP 6, KI 2	2 weeks (3X/week); ASC ^{††}	Thyroid Cancer; S. Korea

Table 4. Anorexia subgroup: characteristics of RCTs

* SNAQ: Simplified Nutritional Appetite Questionnaire, ** QLQ-C30: Quality of Life Questionnaire -Core 30, ⁺ CPQOL: Cancer Pain and Quality of Life(中国癌症患者的疼痛与生活质量问卷), ⁺⁺ ASC: Anorexia/ Cachexia Subscale in the FAACT(Functional Assessment of Anorexia/ Cachexia Therapy)

BPI represents contrarily. Hence, the summary effect of meta-analysis and SMDs in Figure 9 presented as the positive values.

The quantitative heterogeneity test for this subgroup revealed that the probability of being homogenous is relatively high $[\chi_4^2 = 5.41 \ (p = 0.25), I^2 = 26\%]$, so it can not reject the homogeneity hypothesis with 95% confidence interval. Therefore, both fixed effect model and random effects model should be considered. In the fixed effect model, it is assumed that there is a single true underlying effect size (here, SMD), and the model ignores adding the τ^2 (which is the variance among SMDs) for the weighting with inverse of variance score. More importantly, all the RCTs should have homogenous trial setting to have the same true effect size for them in the fixed effect model. Due to this intrinsic

connotation, the qualitative heterogeneity among the studies should prevail the quantitative heterogeneity (i.e., chi-square test result) for choosing a model in meta-analysis. Table 4 also explained obvious qualitative heterogeneity. Therefore, random effects model should be adopted in this anorexia subgroup meta-analysis. The random effects model presented 1.06 improvement in SMD with its 95% CI (0.75; 1.37).

One can compare the three studies in the anorexia subgroup to see the quantitative and qualitative heterogeneity, even though they have resulted in similar SMD scores shown in the forest plot of figure 9. In the RCT studies, Deng & Xu (2018) treated control group with Sertraline Hydrochloride tablet (Zoloft) to compare the SMD of acupuncture treatment (SMD = 0.97),⁶⁶ and the result was similar to the SMD in Fang & Xu (2017)'s RCT where control group received relaxation training as well as intervention group (SMD = 1.00).⁶⁷ Similar effect size of Li et al. (2020)'s study with only acupuncture was reported (SMD = 0.97). These three studies resulted in similar SMD, and this led to low χ_4^2 score. Even though the statistical test supported homogeneity in this subgroup, the quantitative conformity is neither a sufficient nor a necessary condition of homogeneity for choosing between fixed and random effects model. This is the reason why qualitative heterogeneity always prevails quantitative heterogeneity in choosing a model in meta-analysis.

Issues on the validity of the effect for acupuncture treatment in a RCT setting

Outcomes from the four subgroup meta-analyses were briefly reviewed above, and all of them supported strongly in statistical terms for the effectiveness of acupuncture treatment for cancer care. In reality, however, this strong support for effectiveness of an acupuncture treatment is not accepted as much as the statistical summary effect terms claim. MacPherson and Hammerschlag (2012) mentioned about differentiating the concept of effectiveness from the concept of efficacy:⁷⁰

... *Effectiveness* is a measure of the *overall impact* of an intervention on outcome, as would be expected to occur in routine care, with an emphasis on *generalisability*. *Efficacy* is a measure of the impact of an intervention on outcome in as *ideal conditions* as possible, with an emphasis on controlling for *placebo effects*, thereby limiting the effects of bias. When evaluating *effectiveness*, a comparative design is commonly used, in which acupuncture is compared to another active treatment. (*italic* added)

For ensuring the efficacy, the authors implied that patients in the control group should believe they were treated with real acupuncture to activate full placebo effect even with a sham acupuncture treatment. Therefore, the research-designer should provide an ideal condition sufficing this to demonstrate the efficacy as a difference between the controlled placebo group and real acupuncture group. Practicing acupuncture has intrinsic difficulty to make this ideal condition for an RCT. Different effect size depending on mode of sham acupuncture, unclear mechanism of the needle work, divergent diagnosis systems are the main causes of the difficulty. So, followings are discussion about these issues on the RCT setting in the clinical investigation for the validity of acupuncture treatment.

Different modes of Control Group

In the RCTs for acupuncture, the clinical mode of control group plays important role in an experimental setting to get an effect size. For example, the different choice of sham acupuncture mode will lead to a different effect size. There are three different applying modes for sham acupuncture. They are; ① The sham needles were blunt-tipped needles that move up inside their handle when pressed against the skin. ② Insertion with needle wrong points that not indicated for the condition in acupuncture theory. ③ Insertion on the non-points locations that were not known acupoints. In modes of ② and ③, the sham acupuncture can be as efficacious as true acupuncture.^{45,71} In this setting, the RCTs can be the validity of traditional acupuncture theory about specific point locations and their therapeutic indications. Xiang et al. (2017) reported that true acupuncture against nonpenetrating sham acupuncture showed statistically more effective [SMD = -0.70, 95% CI (-1.21; -0.20)] than true acupuncture against pooled penetrating and nonpenetrating sham control trials [SMD = -0.46, 95% CI (-1.11; 0.18)] for pain relief, and the latter was not as statistically significant as nonpenetrating studies only.⁷²

When the nontreatment (waitlist) control group was included, the 3 arms of clinical setting (nontreatment or waitlist, nonpenetrating or penetrating sham, and true needle-insertion) had shown different tendency for the effects of RCTs. Chen et al. (2016) reported on the proportion of positive conclusions in different control designs. The nontreatment controls had the highest tendency to yield a positive conclusion (84.3%), compared with no needle-insertion (using sham needle) controls (53.3%), and trials with needle-insertion (penetrating sham acupoints) controls had the lowest tendency of positive conclusions (37.8%).⁷³ These results implied that the scientific rationales for acupuncture trials were needed to define valid controls, and the theoretical basis for traditional acupuncture practice needed to be re-evaluated in its application to RCTs.

Out of 29 RCTs in this study, 9 RCTs adopted sham acupuncture in their control group. Three of them applied penetrated sham acupuncture and six of them applied nonpenetrating

Source	SMD (95% CI)	
Non-Penetrating Sha	m Acupuncture	
Kim & Lee , 2018	-0.25 [-1.01; 0.51]	
Jeon et al,2015	-0.69 [-1.78; 0.40]	
Mao et al , 2014	-0.28 [-0.90; 0.33]	
Deng et al, 2013	0.00 [-0.46; 0.46]	
Smith et al, 2012	-0.82 [-1.76; 0.13]	
Crew et al, 2010	-1.76 [-2.52; -1.00]	
Total (fixed effect)	-0.44 [-0.72; -0.17]	
Total (random effects)	-0.59 [-1.13; -0.05]	
Heterogeneity: $\chi_5^2 = 16.42$	2 (<i>P</i> = .006), <i>I</i> ² = 70%	
Penentrating Sham A	cupuncture	
Li et al , 2020	-0.97 [-1.35; -0.59]	
Hershman et al, 2018	-0.33 [-0.66; 0.00]	
Gleenlee et al, 2016	0.08 [-0.49; 0.65]	
Total (fixed effect)	-0.50 [-0.73; -0.27]	
Total (random effects)	-0.43 [-0.99; 0.13]	
Heterogeneity: $\chi_2^2 = 10.86$	6 (P = .004), I ² = 82%	
Total (fixed effect)	-0.48 [-0.65; -0.30]	
Total (random effects)	-0.52 [-0.87; -0.16]	
Heterogeneity: $\chi_8^2 = 27.36$	6 (<i>P</i> < .001), <i>I</i> ² = 71%	I
		-{



Figure 10. Penetrating vs nonpenetrating sham acupuncture

sham acupuncture. Figure 10 is the result of comparing pooled studies between these two different modes of sham acupuncture. The heterogeneity in both quantity and quality of the studies was obvious as seen above. For penetrating group, the quantitative heterogeneity was tested to be $\chi_2^2 = 10.86$ (p < 0.004), and $\chi_5^2 = 18.15$ (p < 0.003) for non-penetrating group. Qualitive heterogeneity strong as it had been examined above, especially in Table 1, 2, and 4. Therefore, the comparison was based on random effects model. In the random effects model, the group applied nonpenetrating sham acupuncture revealed a little higher effect size [SMD = - 0.59, 95% CI (-1.13; -0.05)] than the penetrating group [SMD = - 0.43, 95% CI (-0.99; 0.13)], but the summary effect sizes of fixed model showed contrary





Figure 11. Penetrating vs nonpenetrating sham acupuncture except Deng et al.

result. These results could not fully support that the nonpenetrating group showed higher effect size than the needle-penetrating group. Therefore, more studies were needed to resolve their suggestion about the effects of different sham acupuncture.

If the study of Deng et al. (2013) was removed from the nonpenetrating group for a sensitivity analysis, the summary effect provided more conformity to the Xiang et al. (2017) as seen in Figure 11. As mentioned earlier in *Fatigue-subgroup analysis*, Deng et al. (2013)'s study seemed to have strong bias during their clinical trial, because it was unusual to get a result of zero SMD in non-penetrating sham controlled acupuncture. In Figure 11, the summary effect size of pooled modified nonpenetrating sham acupuncture group [SMD = -0.75, 95% CI (-1.34; -0.16)] showed higher summary effect than that of the penetrating



Figure 12. Forest plot of RCTs with waitlist control trial

sham acupuncture group (SMD = -0.43) in random effects model.

Figure 12 is a forest plot of the pooled studies that were based on the clinical setting of a "waitlist" trial. Only one study (Lu et al. 2020) had pure waitlist control group setting,³⁶ the others were set in trial for comparing A + B (acupuncture + e.g., usual care) against B (e.g., usual care) as Ernst & Lee (2008) mentioned.³³ The result showed higher effect size of pooled waitlist group (SMD = -1.04) than the sham acupuncture groups as shown in Figure 10, 11 (SMD = -0.53, -0.60). Therefore, the results from this study conformed to the study done by Chen et al. (2016).⁷³ The pooled waitlist studies clearly showed higher summary effect size than that of the pooled sham acupuncture. These results revealed a tendency that the effect sizes were affected by the choice of control group setting.

Mechanism of the acupuncture application

In traditional acupuncture theory, the effect from choice of acupoints may depend on

the specific symptom being treated, type of needle stimulation, and accuracy of point location. Except the *qi* flow and meridian theory, however, no plausible explanation how a needle works presented in the TCM. The mechanism of acupuncture is not well understood in a modern anatomical and physiological concept. This makes it difficult to set a RCT to investigate the effect of acupuncture treatment. In some RCT setting, the study could be a test whether a set of acupoints were effective for a specific symptom. Hence, the results of RCTs and systematic reviews about the effective of acupuncture have remained controversial, and the unclear mechanism of acupuncture is one of the reasons.

Several researches have raised some alternative explanations about this acupuncture mechanism in modern scientific perspective.^{74,75,76} For example, Cheng (2014) explained the mechanism of acupuncture with 3 layers of its effects. They are; ① Local effects that work for the treatment of musculoskeletal conditions in nerve function and blood circulation along with cytokines. ② Somato-autonomic reflex on homeostasis by the autonomic reflex that involves the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous system. ③ Distal systemic effect through neurotransmitters in the brain such as stimulating the secretion of endorphin is also considered an effect of acupuncture treatment.⁷⁴

Acupuncture treatment could effectuate on human body through multi-dimensional channel. Moreover, real therapeutic effects are also affected by other contributing factors such as needle sensation (or Deqi), needle manipulation, and needle duration.^{77,78} It is desirable to have more research and experiments on this subject, and incorporating the modern scientific theory into the mechanism of acupuncture. Then there will be improvement in setting an ideal clinical trial, and eventually acupuncture therapy will have stronger evidence for the mainstream health care providers.

Risk of bias in the RCTs

Risk of bias (ROB) is one of big issues in RCTs for any meta-analysis, and it is also a frequently encountered problem in RCTs for testing efficacy of acupuncture. Checking the ROB of a study is to assess the internal validity of the studies through the risk that they may over-estimate or under-estimate the true intervention effect. The ROB includes the process of random allocation generation, allocation concealment, and report of incomplete data, fair agreement for blinding of participants and personnel, blinding of outcome assessment, and selective reporting.^{79,80} This ROB can be recapitulated as the ineffective blinding of research participants and selective report in on the resulting data from the RCTs. It is also essential to randomize distribution of patients between intervention and control group according to age, sex, and race, so that they can evenly represent the demography of population in both experimental and control groups.

Blinding participants is essential especially for realizing the placebo effects in a clinical experimental design. Blinding patients between intervention and control groups, however, may be a different hypothesis test, depending on its clinical design. For example, sham acupuncture with real needle insertion may be a testing hypothesis not for the efficacy of acupuncture itself but for the validity of a specific acupuncture theory on which the study's intervention points have been selected. Therefore, nonpenetrating sham acupuncture should be applied for the control group to measure the placebo effects from the study, and blinding the participants is a crucial requirement. It is meaningful to investigate the risk of bias in the nonpenetrating sham controlled trials.

Six studies from 29 RCTs were chosen for ROB assessment, because they had settings with nonpenetrating sham acupuncture mode for their control groups. These six studies

39



Figure 13. Bias plot for nonpenetrating sham control studies

were Kim & Lee (2018),⁴⁴ Jeon et al. (2015),⁷⁰ Mao et al. (2014),⁵⁶ Deng et al. (2013),⁵² Smith et al. (2012),⁵⁴ and Crew et al. (2010).⁴² For assessment of ROB, 7 major domains are defined, D1: Randomization, D2: Allocation concealment, D3: Blinding of participants and personnel, D4: Blinding of outcome assessment, D5: Incomplete outcome data, D6: Selective reporting, D7: Other source of bias. Figure 13 is the assessment outcome from selected RCTs, and Figure 14 is the plot for summary bias of these studies. More detailed contents about these 6 studies for assessing the ROB are described in APPENDIX - B.

Deng et al. (2013) reported unusually high incidents of 11 serious adverse events such as nausea (n=1), vomiting (n=2), renal failure (n=2), dyspnea (n=1), back pain (n=1), and



Figure 14. Summary bias for nonpenetrating sham control studies

so on, but the authors believed that these adverse events were not directly related to the acupuncture treatment with no acceptable explanation. Therefore, we could decide that there might be other sources of bias in their study. Crew et al (2010) claimed that "22% of subjects who received SA (sham acupuncture) reported a 2 point decrease in the BPI" without their data supported, they also reported that 57% of patients in the sham group believed they were receiving true acupuncture. It was needed to conduct more realistic sham acupuncture treatment for their study. Two of the six studies, Mao et al. (2014) and Smith et al. (2012), set up 3 arms clinical setting. Generally, real acupuncture group showed better effect than waitlist control group. The measure of the outcome difference of sham acupuncture group from waitlist control group was an important standard for measuring placebo effects in the 3 arms setting. Hence, the results of their studies showed roughly this tendency.

Reporting complete outcome data was an important domain for assessing the risk of bias in a study. The acupuncture rationale, details of acupuncture process, the treatment regimen, other components of treatment, the practitioner background, and other sham acupuncture interventions were to be reported. Reporting on clear outcome right after the intervention period and follow-up measure were also assessed. Assessing the blinding process usually depended on the authors' description. Kim & Lee (2018) and Deng et al. (2013) reported that the outcome evaluators were blinded. Jeon et al. (2015) set up the clinical environment to blind the acupuncturist. It was notable that the clinical study for acupuncture treatment for cancer patients was susceptible to outside influence/bias during the trials, because cancer patients were usually treated with other conventional care such as pharmacological treatment while getting the intervention.

Diagnosis in the Traditional Chinese Medicine

Another issue on clinical study for acupuncture is the problem of difficulty in using a standardized regimen (especially acupoints selection) for specific clinical trial setting. It is well known that the effect of acupuncture therapy is affected by the selection of acupoints with their therapeutic indications. In some study settings, the diagnoses for acupoints selection were based on the TCM diagnostic system such as "Zang-Fu diagnosis" and "Eight Principles diagnosis: yin/yang, hot/cold, internal/external, excess/deficiency," if they provided a diagnosis.⁸¹ If two of these TCM diagnostic systems ('Zang-fu' and 'Eight Principle') are combined, numerous combinations are possible candidates of diagnosis for a disease. For example, diagnosis of a pain can has several categorical classes depending on its etymology framed by a specific theory in the diagnostic system. Therefore, it is

almost impossible for setting acupoints that can cover all the diagnoses for pain-patients in a clinical setting.

This might be the reason why Greenlee et al. (2015) suggested standardized acupoints protocol for breast cancer patients depending on joints selection for applying patient's specific acupoints,⁸² and some RCTs also adopted this way of acupoints selection to be patient-specific approach in the current meta-analysis.^{36,40,54} Chen et al. (2021) provided meaningful protocol for points selection covering symptom with several differentiations such as excess/deficiency, Zang-Fu diagnosis, and Qi/Blood/Phlegm diagnoses.⁸³ Even though this kind of intervention methods become more complicated to a trial acupuncturist, the selected acupoints suit well for the test of acupuncture effectiveness. First of all, diagnosis for a symptom, mechanism of acupuncture, and etiology of a disease should go together for the ideal clinical setting, and the researchers should keep this matter in mind to have better standardized protocol for their studies.

Adverse effect & Prospective of the study

Acupuncture for cancer care may accompany minor adverse effects such as bruising, spot bleeding, local discomfort, nausea and dizziness. However, no serious adverse reactions that were directly related to the acupuncture treatment were reported in the RCTs. There are also other cancer-related symptoms acupuncture treatment can help. Hot flashes, hiccups, xerostomia, dyspnea, lymphedema, and psychological well-being from depression are the other possible accompanying symptoms from cancer itself and/or cancer therapy. The efficacy of acupuncture on these symptoms was not definite but assumptive based on the available RCTs studies.⁸⁴ As the more researches for acupuncture treatment on these

symptoms are accumulated, we can have the more evidence for the efficacy of acupuncture on them.

Several methodological issues about the RCTs on acupuncture therapy were briefly reviewed. Considering some of these issues, Luo et al. (2015) suggested a new research model in which a typical RCT mode and the "real world research" model were combined to test the effectiveness of acupuncture.⁸⁵ Most of all, realizing these methodological shortcomings in clinical trials for the efficacy of acupuncture will help practitioners understanding current trend of acupuncture application for cancer care, and it will also help researchers developing better environment and more plausible clinical setting for future research. Despite all these problems and difficulties, many published RCTs and meta-analyses on acupuncture for cancer care have contributed to the provision of more evidence for its clinical appropriateness. They also help becoming acupuncture an important part of integrative health care services in the modern society.

V. CONCLUSION

Acupuncture has been a capable modality for alleviating many adverse symptoms from cancer itself and/or cancer treatment. The outcomes from this meta-analysis presented that acupuncture treatment was highly effective for cancer-related symptoms such as pain, fatigue, insomnia, and anorexia. However, the heterogeneity of the clinical settings and intrinsic difficulties of RCT for acupuncture trials made it difficult to get the definitive proof for the efficacy of these clinical outcomes. Different clinical result depending on the selected mode in the control group, unclear mechanism how acupuncture works, and the risk of bias in RCT have been hindering factors not to reach a definitive conclusion for the study. The TCM has its own several diagnosis systems such as "Zang-Fu diagnosis" and "Eight Principles diagnosis," and this also makes it difficult to have consistent acupoints for the specific symptom in a clinical study setting.

Even if the included RCTs in this meta-analysis had some limitations to be in an ideal experimental setting, study combining these RCTs would have contributed to the evidence of effectiveness for oncology acupuncture in theory and for practice.

REFERENCES

- 1. National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NCCIH). National Health Interview Survey (NHIS). Use of complementary health approaches: 2012 adult use report. https://nccih.nih.gov/research/statistics/ NHIS.
- Zhang Y, Lao L, Chen H, Ceballos R. Acupuncture Use among American Adults: What Acupuncture Practitioners Can Learn from National Health Interview Survey 2007? *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* 2012;2012:710750. doi: 10.1155/2012/710750.
- 3. Stark L, et al. The Symptom Experience of Patients with Cancer. *J Hosp Palliat Nurs*. 2012;14(1): 61–70. doi:10.1097/NJH.0b013e318236de5c.
- Lu W, Dean-Clower E, Doherty-Gilman A, Rosenthal DS. The Value of Acupuncture in Cancer Care. *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am.* 2008; 22(4):631-648. doi: 10.1016/ j.hoc.2008.04.005.
- Lau CHY, Wu X, Chung VCH, Xin Liu X, et al. Acupuncture and Related Therapies for Symptom Management in Palliative Cancer Care: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Medicine* (Baltimore). 2016;95(9):1-13 doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000 2901.
- Kilian-Kita A, Puskulluoglu M, Konopka K, Krzemieniecki K. Acupuncture: could it become everyday practice in oncology? *Contemporary Oncology*. 2016;20(2):119-23. doi: 10.5114/wo.2016.60065.
- Guo J, Pei L, Chen L, Chen H, Gu D, Xin C, Peng Y, Sun J. Research Trends of Acupuncture Therapy on Cancer Over the Past Two Decades: A Bibliometric Analysis. *Integr Cancer Ther.* 2020;19:1-20. doi: 10.1177/1534735420959442.
- Mao LL, Palmer C, Healy K, Desal K, Amsterdam J. Complementary and Alternative Medicine Use among Cancer Survivors: A Population-Based Study. *J Cancer Surviv*. 2011;5(1): 8–17. doi: 10.1007/s11764-010-0153-7.
- 9. Jones E, Nissen L, McCarthy A, Steadman K, Windsor C. Exploring the Use of

Complementary and Alternative Medicine in Cancer Patients *Integr Cancer Ther*. 2019; 18:1534735419854134. doi:10.1177/1534735419854134

- 10. Lee SM, Choi HC, Hyun MK. An overview of systematic reviews: complementary therapies for cancer patients. *Integr Cancer Ther*. 2019;18:1-11. doi: 10.1177/1534735419890029.
- 11. Birch S, Bovey M, Alraek T, Robinson N, Kim TH, Lee MS. Acupuncture as a treatment within integrative health for palliative care: a brief narrative review of evidence and recommendations. *J Altern Complement Med.* 2020;26(9):784-791. doi: 10.1089/acm.2020.0032. PMID: 32924554.
- Towler P, Molassiotis A, Brearley SG. What is the evidence for the use of acupuncture as an intervention for symptom management in cancer supportive and palliative care: an integrative overview of reviews. *Support Care Cancer*. 2013 Oct;21(10):2913-23. doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-1882-8.
- van den Beuken-van Everdingen MH, de Rijke JM, Kessels AG, Schouten HC, van Kleef M, Patijn J. Prevalence of pain in patients with cancer: a systematic review of the past 40 years. *Ann Oncol.* 2007;18:1437-1449.
- He Y, Guo X, May BH, Zhang AL, Liu Y, Lu C, Mao JJ, Xue CC, Zhang H. Clinical Evidence for Association of Acupuncture and Acupressure With Improved Cancer Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *JAMA Oncol.* 2020;6(2):271-278. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.5233.
- Yang J, Xu G, Yin Z, et al. Acupuncture for Chronic Cancer-related Pain: a Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis Protocol. *BMJ Open* 2020;10:e039087. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039087
- 16. Hu C, Zhang H, Wu W, Yu W, Li Y, Bai J, Luo B, Li S. Acupuncture for Pain Management in Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* 2016;1720239. doi: 10.1155/2016/1720239.
- 17. Brown LF, Kroenke K. Cancer-related Fatigue and its Associations with Depression and Anxiety: a systematic review. *Psychosomatics*. 2009;50:440-447.

- Jang A, Brown C, Lamoury G, Morgia M, et al. The Effects of Acupuncture on Cancerrelated Fatigue: updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Integrative Cancer Therapies*. 2020;19:1-10. doi.org/10.1177/1534735420949679
- 19. Choi TY, Kim JI, Lim HJ, Lee MS. Acupuncture for Managing Cancer-related Insomnia: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. *Integr Cancer Ther*. 2017;16(2):135-146. doi: 10.1177/1534735416664172.
- 20. Romero, S., Jiang, E., Bussell, J., Eriksen, W., Duhamel, K., Barg, F., & Mao, J. What makes one respond to Rcupuncture for Insomnia? Perspectives of cancer survivors. *Palliative and Supportive Care*. 2020;18(3):301-306. doi: 10.1017/S1478951519000 762
- 21. Garland SN, Xie SX, DuHamel K, Bao T, Li Q, Barg FK, Song S, Kantoff P, Gehrman P, Mao JJ. Acupuncture Versus Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Insomnia in Cancer Survivors: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2019;111(12):1323-1331. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djz050.
- 22. Zhang F, Shen A, Jin Y, Qiang W. The Management Strategies of Cancer-associated Anorexia: a critical appraisal of systematic reviews. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2018;18(1):236. doi: 10.1186/s12906-018-2304-8.
- 23. Yoon SL, Grundmann O, Williams JJ, Carriere G. Novel Intervention with Acupuncture for Anorexia and Cachexia in Patients with Gastrointestinal tract Cancers: a feasibility study. *Oncol Nurs Forum*. 2015;42(2):E102-9. doi: 10.1188/15.ONF. E102-E109
- 24. Chen H, Yang M, Ning Z, Lam WL, Zhao YK, Yeung WF, Ng BF, Ziea ET, Lao L. A Guideline for Randomized Controlled Trials of Acupuncture. *Am J Chin Med.* 2019;47(1):1-18. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X19500010.
- 25. Kaptchuk TJ, Chen KJ, Song J. Recent Clinical Trials of Acupuncture in the West: responses from the practitioners. *Chin J Integr Med.* 2010;16(3):197-203. doi: 10.1007/s11655-010-0197-x
- 26. Ho RS, Wong CH, Wu JC, Wong SY, Chung VC. Non-specific effects of acupuncture

and sham acupuncture in clinical trials from the patient's perspective: a systematic review of qualitative evidence. *Acupunct Med.* 2021;39(1):3-19. doi: 10.1177/0964528420920299.

- 27. Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JPT, Rothstein HR. *Introduction to meta-analysis*. John Wiley & Sons, 2009.
- Borenstein M, Hedges LV, Higgins JP, Rothstein HR. A basic introduction to fixedeffect and random-effects models for meta-analysis. *Res Synth Methods*. 2010 Apr;1(2):97-111. doi: 10.1002/jrsm.12.
- 29. Sterne JA, Sutton AJ, Ioannidis JP, Terrin N, Jones DR, et al. Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. *BMJ*. 2011;343:d4002. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d4002.
- 30. Shi L, Lin L. The trim-and-fill method for publication bias: practical guidelines and recommendations based on a large database of meta-analyses. *Medicine* (Baltimore). 2019;98(23):e15987. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000015987
- 31. Simonsohn, U., Nelson, L. D., & Simmons, J. P. *p*-curve: A Key to The File Drawer. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*. 2014;143(2):534-547. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1037/a0033242
- 32. Balduzzi S, Rücker G, Schwarzer G. How to perform a meta-analysis with R: a practical tutorial. *Evid Based Ment Health*. 2019;22(4):153-160. doi: 10.1136/ ebmental-2019-300117
- 33. Ernst E, Lee MS. A trial design that generates only "positive" results. *J Postgrad Med.* 2008;54(3):214-6. doi: 10.4103/0022-3859.41806.
- 34. Lu W, Giobbie-Hurder A, RACHEL A. Freeman RA, et al. Acupuncture for chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy in breast cancer survivors: a randomized controlled pilot trial. *The Oncologist.* 2020;25(4):310–318. https://doi.org/10.1634/ theoncologist.2019-0489
- 35. Xu H, Zeng Y, Zhou X, et al. Study on acupuncture combined with Longxing Zbitong ointment external application in the treatment of cancer pain. *Hebei J. TCM.*

2019;41(1):111-115. doi:10.3969/j.issn.1002-2619.2019.01.025

- 36. Hershman DL, Unger JM, Greenlee H, et al. Effect of acupuncture vs sham acupuncture or waitlist control on joint pain related to aromatase inhibitors among women with early-stage breast cancer: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. 2018;320 (2):167-176. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.8907
- 37. Fan L, Gao S, Wang Y, Qi Z. Clinical observation of acupuncture combined with western medicine in treatment of advanced lung cancer pain. *Medical Journal of Chinese People's Health.* 2017;29(11):36-38.
- Guo ZB, Guo GH, Yang JP, Shao Y. Effects of acupuncture on pain and quality of life for patients with advanced gastric cancer. *Int J Chin Med.* 2015;37(4):371-373. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1673-4246.2015.04.023
- 39. Li Y, Co H. Effect of acupuncture plus nerve block for late-stage cancer pain. *Shangai J Acu-mox.* 2014;33(3):211-213.
- 40. Crew KD, Capodice JL, Greenlee H, et al. Randomized, blinded, sham-controlled trial of acupuncture for the management of aromatase inhibitor-associated joint symptoms in women with early-stage breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2010;28(7): 1154-1160. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.23.4708
- 41. Ruela LO, Iunes DH, Nogueira DA, Stefanello J, Gradim CVC. Effectiveness of auricular acupuncture in the treatment of cancer pain: randomized clinical trial. *Rev Esc Enferm USP*. 2018;52:e03402. doi: 10.1590/S1980-220X2017040503402
- 42. Kim K, Lee S. Intradermal acupuncture along with analgesics for pain control in advanced cancer cases: a pilot, randomized, patient-assessor, blinded, controlled trial. *Integr Cancr Ther.* 2018;17 (4):1137-1143. doi:10.1177/1534735418786797
- 43. Greenlee H, Crew KD, Capodice J, Awad D, et al. Randomized sham controlled pilot trial of weekly electro acupuncture for the prevention of taxane-induced peripheral neuropathy in women with early-stage breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2016;156(3):453–464. doi:10.1007/s10549-016-3759-2.
- 44. Mao JJ, Liou KT, Baser RE, Bao T, Panageas KS, Romero SAD, Li QS, Gallagher RM,

Kantoff PW. Effectiveness of electroacupuncture or auricular acupuncture vs usual care for chronic musculoskeletal pain among cancer survivors: The PEACE randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol.* 2021;18:e210310. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.0310.

- 45. Moffet HH. Sham acupuncture may be as efficacious as true acupuncture: a systematic review of clinical trial. *J of Alt and Comp Med.* 2009;15(3):213-216.
- 46. MacPherson H, Altman DG, Hammerschlag R, Li Y, Wu T, White A, Moher D. Revised Standards for Reporting Interventions in Clinical Trials of Acupuncture (STRICTA): extending the CONSORT statement. *Acupunct Med.* 2010;28:83–93.
- 47. You Y. Effect of Fuzheng Jiedu decoction combined with acupuncture on cancerrelated fatigue in patients after postoperative chemotherapy for colorectal cancer and its effect on peripheral blood T cell subsets and serum immunoglobulins. *Modern Journal of Integrated Traditional Chinese and Western Medicine*. 2020;29(6):598-651. doi:10.3969/j.issn.1008-8849.2020.06.007
- 48. Zhang L, Li W, Li H, Jia Y. Clinical study of Xiaoyan decoction combined with acupuncture and moxibustion therapy on fatigue related to chemotherapy. *Tianjin Journal of Traditional Chinese Medicine*. 2018;35(7):498-502. doi: 10.11636/ j.issn.1672-1519.2018.07.06
- 49. Su Y, Zhu Y, Xia L. Clinical Study on Acupuncture for Cancer-related Fatigue Due to Spleen-kidney Deficiency. *Shanghai J Acu-mox.* 2016;35(7):830-832.
- 50. Deng G, Chan Y, Sjoberg D, Vickers A, Yeung KS, Kris M, Straus D, Cassileth B. Acupuncture for the treatment of post-chemotherapy chronic fatigue: a randomized, blinded, sham-controlled trial. *Support Care Cancer*. 2013;21:1735–1741. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-013-1720-z
- 51. Molassiotis A, Bardy J, Finnegan-John J, Mackereth P, Ryder DW, Filshie J, Ream E, Richardson A. Acupuncture for cancer-related fatigue in patients with breast cancer: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. *J Clin Oncol.* 2012;30:4470–4476. https: //doi.org/10.1200/jco.2012.41.6222
- 52. Smith C, Carmady B, Thornton C, Perz J, Ussher JM. The effect of acupuncture on

post-cancer fatigue and well-being for women recovering from breast cancer: a pilot randomised controlled trial. *Acupunct Med.* 2013;31:9–15. https://doi.org/10.1136/ acupmed-2012-010228

- 53. Johnston MF, Hays RD, Subramanian SK, Elashoff RM, Axe EK, Li JJ, Kim I, Vargas RB, Lee J, Yang L, Hui KK. Patient education integrated with acupuncture for relief of cancer-related fatigue randomized controlled feasibility study. *BMC Complement Altern Med.* 2011;11:49 https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6882-11-49
- 54. Mao JJ, Farrar JT, Bruner D, et al. Electroacupuncture for fatigue, sleep, and psychological distress in breast cancer patients with aromatase inhibitor-related arthralgia: A randomized trial. *Cancer*. 2014; 120:3744–3751.
- Zeng Y, Luo T, Finnegan-John J, Cheng AS. Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials of Acupuncture for Cancer-Related Fatigue. *Integr Cancer Ther.* 2014;13(3): 193-200. doi: 10.1177/1534735413510024.
- 56. Zhang Y, Lin L, Li H, Hu Y, Tian L. Effects of acupuncture on cancer-related fatigue: a meta-analysis. *Support Care Cancer*. 2018;26:415–425.
- 57. Gao J, Lei Y, Chen H. Effect of external application of Chinese medicine at pain points and acupoints combined with acupuncture on reducing cancer pain level and sleep quality of patients with advanced lung cancer. *Shaanxi Journal of Traditional Chinese Medicine*. 2020;41(7):972-979.
- 58. Chi W, Wang B, Yang F, Jang Q, Jiang J. Clinical effect of acupuncture combined with medicine in the treatment of insomnia caused by cancer in patients with non—small cell lung cancer after chemotherapy. *China Medical Herald*. 2019;16(23);114-117.
- Feng Y, Wang XY, Li SD, et al. Clinical research of acupuncture on malignant tumor patients for improving depression and sleep quality. *J Tradit Chin Med.* 2011;31:199-202.
- 60. Shen L, Chen W, Lu X, et al. study on the effect of electro acupuncture in improving sleep quality of patient with lung cancer-related pain. *J of Med Res.* 2016;45(6):87-90.
- 61. Frisk J, Källström AC, Wall N, et al. Acupuncture improves health-related quality-of-

life (HRQoL) and sleep in women with breast cancer and hot flushes. Support Care *Cancer*. 2012; 20:715–724.

- 62. Kuo HC, Tsao Y, Tu HU, Dai ZH. Pilot randomized controlled trial of auricular point acupressure for sleep disturbances in women with ovarian cancer. *Res Nurs Health*. 2018; 41(5):469-479. doi: 10.1002/nur.21885.
- 63. Liu C, Xi H, Wu W, Wang X, Qin S, Zhao Y, Zheng S, Wan Q, Xu L. Placebo effect of acupuncture on insomnia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Palliat Med.* 2020;9(1):19-29. doi: 10.21037/apm.2019.11.15.
- 64. Eriksen WT, Singerman L, Romero SAD, Bussell J, Barg FK, Mao JJ. Understanding the Use of Acupuncture for Insomnia Among Cancer Survivors: A Qualitative Study. *J Altern Complement Med.* 2018;24(9-10):962-967. doi:10.1089/acm.2018.0156.
- 65. Li QW, Yu MW, Wang XM, Yang GW, et al. Efficacy of acupuncture in the prevention and treatment of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting in patients with advanced cancer: a multi-center, single-blind, randomized, sham-controlled clinical research. *Chinese Medicine*. 2020;15:57 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13020-020-00333-x
- 66. Deng X, Xu T. Acupuncture treatment for 60 patients with anxiety and depression. *Journal of Zhejiang Chinese Medical University*. 2018;42(9);748-751.
- 67. Fang X, Xu Y. Effect of acupuncture combined with relaxation training on psychological state and life quality of patients with advanced cancer pain. *Nursing Practice and Research.* 2017;14(19):14-16.
- 68. Jeon JH, Yoon J, Cho CK, et al. Effect of acupuncture for radioactive-iodine-induced anorexia in thyroid cancer patients: a randomized, double-blinded, sham-controlled pilot study. *Integr Cancer Ther*. 2015;14:221-230.
- Sun L, Mao JJ, Liu Q, Yang Y, He B. Effects of auricular acupuncture on appetite in patients with advanced cancer: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Ann Palliat Med.* 2020;9(4):1804-1811. doi: 10.21037/apm.2020.04.24
- 70. MacPherson H, Hammerschlag R. Acupuncture and the emerging evidence base: contrived controversy and rational debate. *J Acupunct Meridian Stud.* 2012;5(4):141-

7. doi: 10.1016/j.jams.2012.05.001.

- 71. Zhang H, Bian Z, Lin Z. Are acupoints specific for diseases? A systematic review of the randomized controlled trials with sham acupuncture controls. *Chin Med.* 2010;5:1. doi: 10.1186/1749-8546-5-1.
- 72. Xiang A, Cheng K, Shen X, Xu P, Liu S. The immediate analgesic effect of acupuncture for pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*. 2017;ID 3837194 https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3837194
- 73. Chen H, Ning Z, Lam WL, et al. Types of control in acupuncture clinical trials might affect the conclusion of the trials: a review of acupuncture on pain management. *Journal of Acupuncture and Meridian Studies*. 2016;9(5)227-233. doi:10.1016/ j.jams.2016.08.001
- 74. Cheng KJ. Neurobiological mechanisms of acupuncture for some common illnesses: a clinician's perspective. J Acupunct Meridian Stud. 2014;7(3):105-14. doi: 10.1016/j.jams.2013.07.008.
- Langevin HM, Churchill DL, Cipolla MJ. Mechanical signaling through connective tissue: a mechanism for the therapeutic effect of acupuncture. *FASEB J.* 2001;15(12):2275-82. doi: 10.1096/fj.01-0015hyp.
- 76. Chavez LM, Huang SS, MacDonald I, Lin JG, Lee YC, Chen YH. Mechanisms of Acupuncture Therapy in Ischemic Stroke Rehabilitation: A Literature Review of Basic Studies. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017;18(11):2270. doi: 10.3390/ijms18112270.
- 77. White AR, Filshie J, Cummings TM; International Acupuncture Research Forum. Clinical trials of acupuncture: consensus recommendations for optimal treatment, sham controls and blinding. *Complement Ther Med* 2001; 9: 237-45.
- Shi GX, Yang XM, Liu CZ, Wang LP. Factors contributing to therapeutic effects evaluated in acupuncture clinical trials. *Trials*. 2012;13:42. doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-13-42.
- 79. Long Y, Chen R, Guo Q, Luo S, Huang J, Du L. Do acupuncture trials have lower risk of bias over the last five decades? A methodological study of 4 715 randomized

controlled trials. *PLoS ONE*. 2020;15(6): e0234491. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0234491

- 80. Jia P, Tang L, Yu J, et al. Risk of bias and methodological issues in randomised controlled trials of acupuncture for knee osteoarthritis: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* 2018;8:e019847. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019847
- 81. Xinnong C (chief editor). Chinese Acupuncture and Moxibustion. Foreign Language Press. Beijing, 1987
- 82. Greenlee H, Crew KD, Capodice J, Awad D, Jeffres A, Unger JM, Lew DL, Hansen LK, Meyskens FL Jr, Wade JL 3rd, Hershman DL. Methods to Standardize a Multicenter Acupuncture Trial Protocol to Reduce Aromatase Inhibitor-related Joint Symptoms in Breast Cancer Patients. *J Acupunct Meridian Stud.* 2015;8(3):152-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jams.2015.03.006.
- 83. Chen H, So TH, Cho WC, Qin Z, Ma CH, Li SG, Yang Z, Jiang F, Wu J, Zhang ZJ, Kong FM, Lao L. The Adjunctive Effect of Acupuncture for Advanced Cancer Patients in a Collaborative Model of Palliative Care: Study Protocol for a 3-Arm Randomized Trial. *Integr Cancer Ther*. 2021;20:15347354211012749. doi: 10.1177/15347354211 012749.
- 84. Wu X, Chung VC, Hui EP, Ziea ET, Ng BF, Ho RS, Tsoi KK, Wong SY, Wu JC. Effectiveness of acupuncture and related therapies for palliative care of cancer: overview of systematic reviews. *Sci Rep.* 2015;5:16776. doi: 10.1038/srep16776.
- 85. Luo J, Xu H, Liu B. Real world research: a complementary method to establish the effectiveness of acupuncture. *BMC Complement Altern Med.* 2015;15:153. doi: 10.1186/s12906-015-0676-6.

APPENDIX - A

Summary Report with Input Data and Subgroup Meta-Analysis

Following figure presents the detailed input-data for the meta-analysis, and results of subgroup analyses. The homogeneity hypothesis in the RCTs was rejected in the study, because the RCTs revealed both quantitative and qualitative heterogeneity. Quantitative heterogeneity was tested with χ^2_{28} score determining the variance between the studies that is 156.41 (*p* < 0.001). Qualitative heterogeneity was obvious, since there were so many different trial settings such as methods of experimental intervention, different interventions for control group, different modes of sham acupuncture, and so on.

In the fixed effect model, it is assumed that there is a single true underlying effect (here, SMD). So, it is expected that all the RCTs are homogenous. In DISCUSSION section, Figure 9 showed that the anorexia subgroup's chi-square test was $\chi_4^2 = 5.41$ (p = 0.25). This quantitative heterogeneity might support the fixed effect model. However, the qualitative heterogeneity, as shown in Table 4, was strong enough to support for the random effects model. One could believe that the true underling effects were different each other among the studies. In this case, a researcher should choose the random effects model in the anorexia subgroup meta-analysis, even though the quantitative heterogeneity seemed to support the fixed effect model.

	Int	erventi	on	(Control					Weight	Weight
Author(s), Year	Num	Mean	SD	Num	Mean	SD	Standardized Mean Diff.	SMD	95%-CI	(fixed)	(random)
Pain											
Lu et al . 2020	14	-1.50	1.94	17	0.20	1.91		-0.86	[-1.60: -0.12]	1.9%	3.2%
Xu et al , 2019	35	-3.90	0.74	25	-2.80	0.63		-1.56	[-2.15; -0.97]	3.0%	3.6%
Hershman et al, 2018	100	-1.45	1.79	54	-0.76	2.55	- 	-0.33	[-0.66; 0.00]	9.3%	4.2%
Ruela et al, 2018	11	-5.27	1.60	12	0.33	1.85	-	-3.11	[-4.39; -1.83]	0.6%	2.0%
Kim & Lee , 2018	14	-1.54	1.45	13	-1.15	1.57		-0.25	[-1.01; 0.51]	1.8%	3.2%
Fan et al , 2017	35	-1.45	1.38	34	-0.75	1.45	- 	-0.49	[-0.97; -0.01]	4.5%	3.8%
Gleenlee et al, 2016	25	0.30	2.60	22	0.10	2.20	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.08	[-0.49; 0.65]	3.1%	3.6%
Guo et al, 2015	32	-3.64	1.21	32	-2.86	1.27		-0.62	[-1.12; -0.12]	4.1%	3.8%
Li & Cao, 2014	16	-5.08	1.11	16	-3.19	1.34	_	-1.50	[-2.29; -0.70]	1.6%	3.1%
Crew et al, 2010	20	-3.34	1.78	18	0.10	2.05		-1.76	[-2.52; -1.00]	1.8%	3.2%
Fixed effect model	302			243			◆	-0.69	[-0.87; -0.51]	31.5%	
Random effects model								-0.93	[-1.37; -0.49]		33.6%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 81\%$, τ^2	² = 0.38	338, χ ₉ ² =	47.29	(p < 0.	01)						
E . finner											
Fatigue	50	50.07	7.07	50	45.47	0.04	_	4 70	10.40 4.051	4.004	0.00/
YOU YI, 2020	50	-59.37	1.87	50	-45.47	8.21		-1.72	[-2.18; -1.25]	4.8%	3.9%
Zhang et al, 2018	40	-1.55	5.65	40	9.76	5.06		-2.09	[-2.64; -1.54]	3.4%	3.7%
Sulet al., 2016	30	-1.08	0.99	30	-0.30	0.77		-0.87	[-1.40; -0.34]	3.6%	3.7%
Mao et al, 2014	21	-1.40	3.04	20	-0.60	2.51		-0.28	[-0.90; 0.33]	2.1%	3.5%
Deng et al, 2013	34	-1.20	1.62	40	-1.20	1.79		0.00	[-0.46; 0.46]	4.9%	3.9%
Molassiotis et al, 2012	46	-3.72	2.98	10	-0.62	4.83		-0.91	[-1.62; -0.20]	2.1%	3.3%
Smith et al, 2012	9	-3.10	2.06	10	-1.50	1.69		-0.82	[-1.76; 0.13]	1.1%	2.7%
Johnston et al, 2011	5	-4.20	1.31		-1.62	1.95		-1.38	[-2.71; -0.05]	0.6%	2.0%
Fixed effect model	235			207			<u></u>	-0.98	[-1.19; -0.77]	23.3%	
Random effects model	2	2			• • •			-1.00	[-1.57; -0.42]		26.7%
Heterogeneity: $I^- = 86\%$, τ^2	= 0.56	581, χ ₇ =	48.67	(p < 0.	01)						

Forest plot continues ...



Output of summary effects with each study input data & subgroup analyses

APPENDIX – B

Detailed information for the assessing the risk of bias: non-penetrating sham acupuncture trials for control group

Study	Sample Size / Age	Intervention	Control	Treatment;	Summary of Result	Adverse
	Randomization	_		Outcomes		Events
Kim & Lee, ⁴² 2018	30 various cancer patients/ 56 (42 – 73)	<a> Intradermal acupuncture: needle was kept attached on	 Sham intradermal acupuncture, no-	3 weeks (3X/week); NRS, QOL,	NRS: <a> MD, -1.57 ± 2.06, MD, -1.54 ± 1.20	fatigue
	Patient-assessor-blinded (Computerized random number generator)	the skin for 48 to 72 hours ($n = 15$, 1 withdrawal)	penetration (n = 15, 2 withdrawal)	Change in analgesics	EORTC QLQ-C30: <a> MD, -7.29 ± 10.58, MD, -8.77 ± 11.14	
Jeon et al., ⁶⁸ 2015	14 throid cancer patients Age: True- 42.3, Sham- 46.3 Computer generated randomization; blinding both acupuncturist and patient	<a> Intradermal _ acupuncture (n=7)	 Sham intradermal acupuncture(n=7)	2 weeks (3X/week); ASC, VAS, FAACT	ASC: <a> MD, 5±7.38 MD, 0±6.12	No adverse event
Mao et al, ⁵⁴ 2014	76 breast cancer patients/ 59.7 (41-76) Computer-generated numbers sealed in opaque envelopes	<a> Electro- acupuncture (30 min, n=22)	 Sham acupuncture; non- penetrating needles at least 5cm away from the pain area (n=22) <c> Waitlist (n=23)</c>	8 weeks (2X/week) - 2weeks; (1X/week) – 6weeks BFI, PSQI, HADS	<a> vs : MD, -0.6 (-2.53;1.33) → not significant <a> vs <c>: MD, -0.5 (-2.69, 1.69) → not significant</c>	Not reported
Deng et al, ⁵⁰ 2013	98 various cancer patients/ True Acu 54(46-58) Sham 53(45-59)	<a> Acupuncture (n = 47, 13 withdrawal)	 Sham acupuncture; w/ sham needles & points a	6 weeks (1X/week);	BFI: <a> : MD, -1.2 (1.47 ←SD) : MD, -1.2 (1.79)	11 serious adverse

Table 1. Risk of Bias, Summary Characteristics of Randomized Clinical Trials

	Fax to a central randomization service; Patients and evaluators blinding	-	few mm off the meridians (n = 51, 11 withdrawal)	BFI, HADS, FACT-G	FACT-G overall: <a> : MD, 3.9 (11.39) : MD, 4.5 (14.45)	events: nausea, vomiting,
Smith et al, ⁵² 2012	30 breast cancer patients/ <a> 55(8.8), (12.5) <c> 58(7.5)</c>	<a> Acupuncture	 Sham acupuncture; (non- invasive) on no acu	3 weeks (2X/week); BFI	BFI after 4 weeks; <a> vs : MD, -1.8(1.875 \leftarrowSD) \rightarrow not significant	Not reported
2012	Computer generated randomization	-	pts <c> Waitlist</c>		<a> vs <c> : MD, -2.4(1.95)</c>	
Crew et al, ⁴⁰ 2010	43 breast cancer patients/ <a> 58 (44-77) 57 (37-77)	True acupuncture (TA); + auricular acupuncture ($n = 23$,	Sham acupuncture (SA); superficial needle used, no true	6 weeks (2X/week); BPI	BPI for <a> vs : Worst pain: MD, -3.59 (0.94)	Not reported
	Blinding all participants except acupuncturists	- 3 withdrawal)	acu points (n = 20, 2 withdrawal)		Pain severity: MD, -3.44 (0.81) Pain-related inference: MD, -1.97 (1.14)	

BFI: Brief Fatigue Inventory, BPI: Brief Pain Inventory, SD: Standard Deviation, PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, ASC: Anorexia/Cachexia Subscale in FAACT, MD: Mean Difference

Table 2. Risk of Bias, Details of Acupuncture Procedure

Study	Theory & Rationale	Points Used	Depths of Insertion	Responses elicited	Needle Stimulation	Needle Retention time	Needle type	Treatment Regimen	Practitioner background
Kim & Lee, ⁴² 2018	TCM theory	CV 12, bilateral ST 25, LI 4, LR 3, PC 6, and 0~3 Ashi points	1.5 mm	Not specified (intra- dermal acu)	Patient press twice a day	attached on the skin for 48 to 72 hours	stainless steel IA needles (0.18x1.3x 1.5 mm) Dong-Bang	3 weeks	Doctors of Korean medicine, Experience > 3 year

Jeon et al., ⁶⁸ 2015	TCM theory	(bilaterally) LI 4, LR 3, ST 36, SP 6, KI 2	1.5 mm	Not specified (intra- dermal acu)	No stimulation	30 min	Stainless steel IA (0.2x 1.5x2 mm), Dong- Bang	2 weeks (6 sessions)	Not reported
Mao et al, ⁵⁴ 2014	TCM theory	Trigger pts: at least 4 local points around the joint with the most pain. EX) Shoulder: LI 15 (bilateral), SI 9 (bilateral) Knee: ST34 (bilateral), ST35 (bilateral), SP9 (bilateral), etc	Not reported	Deqi	Manual stimulation (beginning and ending), Electro- acupuncture	30 min	Stainless steel (0.25x30, 0.25x40mm) Seirin- America	8 weeks (10 sessions)	Two: 8 years and 20 years of experience
Deng et al, ⁵⁰ 2013	TCM theory	Unilateral: CV 6, CV 4, Bilateral: KD 3, SP 6, ST 36, LI 11, HT 6, ear acupuncture, A sham needle manufactured by AsiaMed	0.5–1" deep	Deqi	Manual stimulation	20 min	Stainless steel 1/2" to 3" long and 32–38 G in width, Seirin or Tai Chi	6 weeks (6 sessions)	Licensed acupuncturist by the New York State, Experience > 3 year
Smith et al, ⁵² 2012	TCM theory	Bilateral KI 3, KI 27, ST 36, SP 6 and unilateral CV 4 and CV 6	Not reported	Deqi	Not reported	20 min	Stainless steel (0.25×40 mm and 0.22×25 mm), Vinco	3 weeks (6 sessions)	Licensed by Australian Acupuncture and Chinese Medicine Association
Crew et al, ⁴⁰ 2010	TCM theory	Varied; acu points near 3 most painful joint areas + ear acupuncture	Not reported	Deqi	Manual stimulation	20~25 min	(25 mm or 40 mm and 34-gauge), Cloud & Dragon Medical Device	6 weeks (12 sessions)	Not reported

Table	e 3.	Risk	of	Bias,	Assessment
-------	------	------	----	-------	------------

Study	Randomization	Allocation	Blinding of	Blinding of	Incomplete	Selective	Other	Overall
		concealment	partipant and	outcome	outcome	reporting	sources of	
			personnel	assessment	data		bias	
Kim &	low	low	low	low	moderate	high	moderate	moderate
Lee, 2018								
Jeon et	low	low	low	moderate	low	low	moderate	low
al., 2015								
Mao et	low	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate
al., 2014								
Deng et	low	moderate	low	low	moderate	moderate	high	high
al., 2013								
Smith et	low	moderate	moderate	moderate	high	moderate	moderate	moderate
al., 2012								
Crew et	low	low	low	moderate	moderate	high	moderate	moderate
al., 2010								